IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MARLON HOUSE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Vicki Hogan

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

COREY EVAN PARKER Attorney for Appellant

LAW OFFICE OF COREY EVAN PARKER 1275 12th Ave NW, Suite 1B Issaquah, Washington 98027

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The trial court erred when it did not sentence House under a Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative.
- B. Counsel was ineffective when he failed to submit a psychosexual report that contained the minimum statutory requirements.
- C. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied House's request for substitution of counsel and informed him that a resolution short of trial if he interviews the victims is impossible.
- D. Counsel was ineffective during the plea bargain stage because he failed to adequately investigate and to adequately advise House

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Whether the trial court's conclusions were erroneous in light of defense expert, Michael Comte's testimony, which explained any deficiencies in his written report
- B. Whether trial counsel should have recognized the procedural deficiencies in Comte's report and requested a supplemental report.
- C. Whether the trial court conducted an adequate inquiry into House's request for new counsel and whether informing House that a resolution short of trial if he interviews the victims is impossible was an abuse of discretion.
- D. Whether trial counsel adequately assisted House in evaluating the evidence against him.

III. INTRODUCTION

House instructed his attorney to interview the alleged victims.

When the attorney refused to do so, House moved to remove him, but was denied. Both House's attorney and the court indicated that a plea bargain was impossible if the defense interviewed the alleged victims. Then House decided to plead guilty knowing he was eligible for a SSOSA. House complied with everything that was required of him and answered all the questions asked. The Court denied a SSOSA based in large part on a deficient psychosexual evaluation. Based on these events, the case should be remanded to vacate the guilty plea and allow House to proceed to trial. Alternatively, this case should be remanded for resentencing and House should be provided the opportunity to submit a new or supplemental psychosexual report.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Official Version of the Offense

The Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney's Office charged Marlon House with one count of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and two counts of Child Molestation in the First Degree on March 10, 2014 under cause number 14-1-00938-2. The alleged victim in that case was L.M. The crimes were alleged to have taken place between January 2008 and February 2010. CP 39. On May 15, 2015, the Prosecuting Attorney's

Office amended the information to dismiss the two counts of Child Molestation in the first degree. CP 1. House pled guilty to that charge on May 15, 2015. CP 3. The PSI for cause number 14-1-00938-2 extracted information from various Lakewood Police Department Reports. The PSI stated that House's mother previously dated L.M's deceased father. CP 39. House's mother confirmed that she dated L.M.'s father in either 2008 or 2009 until 2010. She had seen House around L.M. three times at the most. CP 40.

The PSI also address the official version of events for cause number 14-1-00937-4 regarding the allegations of the rape of S.K. CP 43. House was in a three month relationship with S.K.'s mother and he watched the children while their mother was a work. CP 43. S.K. was examined by a doctor and tested positive for genital warts and later for Chlamydia. CP 44. When a detective spoke to House, he confirmed that he tested positive for Chlamydia, but did not have genital warts. CP 44. Medical records existed to substantiate that House did not have genital warts, but his attorney made no effort to obtain the records in his defense.

B. House's Request for a New Attorney

On August 22, 2014, House appeared, represented by Mark Quigly, at a status conference. Both the State and Quigley asked the court to set it over for September 19th, but House asked to address the court

regarding Quigley's representation. Status Conference RP 3-4. Before giving House a chance to speak, Quigley stated that he had retained investigator, Julie Armijo, who made contact with every witness that House wanted Quigley to subpoena for trial. Quigley also stated that he had not yet interviewed the two alleged victims because he was exploring a resolution. Once the defense interviews the alleged victims, a resolution is "difficult, if not impossible." Status Conference RP 4. Quigley also stated that he talked to House several times, made contact with him, made notes of their conversations, and taken the action House wanted him to take. Status Conference RP 4-5. Additionally, Quigley stated that he spoke to House's mother and if House said otherwise it is not true. *Id.* 5.

The Court then noted that only a status conference was noted for that morning, but House could speak briefly so the court could determine whether a full hearing was necessary. *Id.* House then stated to the Court that Quigley had only talked to him four times since he was taken into custody. House submitted a grievance to the Bar Association and he believed this was the only reason Quigley finally contacted him. House also stated that his mother had contacted Quigley to present documents to no avail and in court on January 22nd, Quigley ignored his mother completely. *Id.* at 5. At that point the Court interrupted House and asked

what he wanted the Court to do. House requested that the Court relieve Quigley of his duty to represent House. *Id.* at 6.

The Court denied his request stating, "When you have the privilege of hiring your own counsel, then you can hire and fire. When the county pays for it, on the record before me Mr. Quigley is moving forward on your case." *Id.* at 6-7. The Court went on to say that there are not set times Quigley was required to visit him and that he had interviewed all the witnesses House asked him to interview except the alleged victims. *Id.* at 7. The Court stated that once the alleged victims are interviewed by the defense, "any resolution short of trial is impossible after that time." Status Conference RP 7.

C. Pre-sentence Investigation and Psychosexual Evaluation

On January 6, 2015, House submitted to a polygraph examination regarding House's sexual history and no deception was detected. CP 77. House was also asked, not including the current case, whether he sexually touched anyone under 16 or whether he had sex with anyone under 16, while he was an adult. He answered no to both questions. CP 87.

The pre-sentencing investigation (PSI) report authored by the Community Corrections Officer (CCO) Sally Saxton, stated that House was not eligible for a SSOSA for two main reasons. First, CCO Saxton did not believe House affirmatively admitted he committed all of the elements

of the crime to which he pled guilty. CP 50. Second, CCO Saxton believed that House's sole connection with L.M. was the crime. CP 51.

According to CCO Saxton she interviewed House on June 26, 2015 and he stated that he only met L.M. one time. CP 41-42. But, information in the psychosexual evaluation, which Mr. Comte derived from the investigative reports, shows that House's mother was in a dating relationship with L.M.'s father. CP 65. In fact, the PSI itself seconds that statement, which suggests that House had more than one contact with L.M. and the crime was not the sole connection. CP 39-40. Comte did not directly ask House how many times he came into contact with L.M. Sentencing RP 45-46.

CCO Saxton was also concerned that House did not go into any type of detail of the crime he committed against L.M beyond "the incident happened." CP 51. But, Comte explained that he read to House what the child had said and House said he was guilty of what she alleged. Comte did not ask House to tell him in his own words what happened. Sentencing RP 39. Comte testified that he considered House's adoption of L.M.'s events as an admission sufficient to satisfy House telling his version of the events. *Id.* at 47.

CCO Saxton picked out minor discrepancies between the psychosexual evaluation and the PSI. In the psychosexual evaluation,

House admitted having approximately 100 sexual partners where he admitted to over 200 in the PSI. CP 51. Some of the details House reported in the PSI did not exactly match other details in the psychosexual evaluation. House admitted to manipulative behavior and using sex as revenge. CP 51-52. Despite these issues, Comte testified that he has performed about 7,800 evaluations over the course of his career, and in his opinion, House is amenable to treatment. Sentencing RP 27, 38.

Lastly, CCO Saxton was concerned that in the psychosexual evaluation House adopted L.M.'s version of events, but in the paragraph below his admission he denied coercive behavior. L.M. alleged that he provided her with alcohol and marijuana and he chased her when she tried to run away and pinned her down to assault her. CP 52. This caused concern because CCO Saxton did not believe the polygraph conducted on January 6, 2015 was useful in determining whether House was truthful about his statements of guilt in the current case. The questions asked specifically excluded any elements of the current crime. CP 51.

However, Comte clarified this confusion at the sentencing hearing.

Comte testified that in retrospect he would have written his report

differently in order to clarify the meaning. He intended to state that House
adopted all of L.M's statement except for the part where he chased her and
pinned her down. Sentencing RP 50-51.

D. Sentencing

On May 15, 2015, there was a hearing on a guilty plea. House pled guilty to two counts of Rape of a Child in the First Degree. Plea RP 11.

During the hearing, sentencing was set for June 25, 2015 to ensure enough time for the Department of Corrections (DOC) to conduct a Pre-Sentencing Investigation (PSI). Plea RP 16-17. However, on June 22, 2015, CCO Saxton requested that sentencing be held over for another three weeks because DOC had "made multiple email attempts (6/08/15 and 6/11/15) to contact Mr. House's defense attorney, Mark Quigley, with the Department of Assigned Counsel (DAC), to set up a PSI interview." In addition, DOC attempted to contact Quigley at his listed work number on June 8, 2015, but the voicemail was full and there was no space for new messages. CP 17.

Sentencing was re-scheduled and took place on July 14, 2015. The defense called Michael Comte, who interviewed House and authored the Psychosexual Evaluation and Treatment Plan. CP 64; Sentencing RP 15. Comte met with House on three occasions. During the first interview on January 18, 2015, House denied all allegations, but the next day he began to take responsibility. *Id.* at 17-18. Comte explained that it was common for a defendant to initially deny the allegations out of shame, guilt, or

embarrassment. Comte also noted that it is a process that requires rapport building and trust building. *Id.* at 18-19.

Even though House initially stated that his motive for assaulting L.M was curiosity and his motive for assaulting S.K. was vengeance, Comte explained that these reasons were likely a rationalization or justification for his behavior. *Id.* at 20. In his Comte's opinion, the primary motivation was sexual arousal and attraction to the victims. *Id.* at 21. And Comte opined that House is amenable to treatment. *Id.* at 27.

In Comte's opinion, House was not dishonest when he claimed he is not aroused by a prepubescent female form. House simply lacks insight, which is the purpose of treatment. *Id.* at 41-42. Comte testified that he felt House is capable of that insight. *Id.* at 42. Comte testified that House expressed remorse, which he included in his report, but did not provide supporting information. *Id.* at 47. When House stated that he assaulted L.M. out of curiosity, Comte did not ask him to explain that curiosity. *Id.* at 39-40.

House requested that the Court grant him a sex offender sentencing alternative (SSOSA) and suspend the balance of prison time. *Id.* at 66.

The State requested a standard range sentence. *Id.* at 55. .

The Court denied House's request for a SSOSA under RCW 9.94A.670(4), based on the following findings:

- Additional victims were unknown. RP 82.
- Amenable to treatment The trial court found that there was no acknowledgement that House's behavior was deviant, both the PSI writer and Comte suggested manipulation RP 83-84.
- "The Court is concerned with Mr. Comte's report. The lack of understanding, despite the request for forgiveness, really plays into the amenability for treatment component and whether or not there is any understanding or ability to have understanding for how your conduct has affected these victims. I think it goes back to the basis for the action, the curiosity statements, vengeance statements, using sex as a tool and having no real insight into the impact this conduct had on L.M. over a period of two years, and for S.K. over a period of three months." RP 84.
- The Victims don't support a SSOSA RP 83

The Court sentenced House to 160 months to life for each count, to be served concurrently. House timely filed this appeal.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied House a SSOSA because the denial was based on a statutorily deficient psychosexual evaluation and a clearly erroneous finding

This Court reviews a denial of a SSOSA for abuse of discretion. *State v. Williams*, 149 Wn.2d 143, 147, 65 P.3d 1214 (2003) ("[I]t is well established that appellate review is still available for the corrections of legal errors or abuses of discretion in the determination of what sentence applies.") In other words, a defendant may challenge the trial court's findings and conclusions that led to its denial of a SSOSA. *Id.*; *State v. Kinneman*, 155 Wn.2d 272, 283, 119 P.3d 350 (2005). Abuse of discretion

is discretion that is manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

1. The psychosexual evaluation was deficient and the court should have ordered a supplemental report

A defendant is eligible for a Special Sex Offender Sentencing

Alternative (SSOSA) if he meets the criteria listed in RCW 9.94A.670 (2).

If the offender is eligible, the court may order an examination to determine whether the offender is amenable to treatment. RCW 9.94A.670 (3). The report must include at least the following: (a) the offender's version of the facts and the official version of the facts; (b) the offender's offense history; (c) an assessment of problems in addition to alleged deviant behaviors; (d) the offender's social and employment situation; and (e) other evaluation measures used.

The sentencing court denied House a SSOSA based in large part on its perception that House was not amenable to treatment, despite defense expert Comte's testimony that he is amenable to treatment.

Sentencing RP 27, 84. The court based its findings on gaps in Comte's report. The Court cited House's lack of understanding of how his conduct affected the victims and his purported motives for his actions. Sentencing RP 84.

Despite whatever deficiencies in his report, Comte provided a detailed explanation for House's purported motives of "curiosity" and "vengeance" during his testimony. Comte testified that he did not believe this was the true motive. He further testified that even though House currently lacked that insight, he is amenable to treatment and will gain that insight through treatment. Sentencing RP 20, 41-42.

Even though Comte testified about House's amenability to treatment, on cross-examination, the State pointed out several major deficiencies in his report. First, Comte's report did not detail House's version of events. Comte testified that House fully adopted S.K.'s version of events and L.M.'s version of events except for the allegation that he chased her and pinned her down. But, Comte's report led the Court to believe that House accepted that he chased and pinned down L.M., but he did not consider that conduct to be coercive. In addition, Comte did not ask House how many times he had contact with L.M. or how their contact started. Therefore, it remained unknown. Despite this rigorous cross-examination, House's attorney did not conduct any re-direct. The issues the State called attention to were procedural defects in the report, not disqualifying conduct by House.

Here, House submitted himself to a psychosexual evaluation in January and February of 2015. He answered the questions that were asked

of him. Comte interviewed House on January 18, January 19 and February 4, 2015. From the first to the third day, House made significant progress. He went from denying all the allegations, to saying he was going to make a false admission, to actually admitting the allegation and expressing remorse. CP 65. Comte testified that this is a process that takes many months. Sentencing RP 41.

2. The court's conclusion that the polygraph questions were insufficient to determine whether there are additional victims is clearly erroneous.

A trial court's factual finding is reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. *State v. Grewe*, 117 Wn.2d 211, 214, 813 P.2d 1238 (1991). The finding should be reversed if no substantial evidence supports its conclusion. *Id.* citing *Burba v. Vancouver*, 113 Wn.2d 800, 807, 783 P.2d 1056 (1989).

The Court also denied House a SSOSA on its finding that whether there are additional victims is unknown. Sentencing RP 84. The Court found that questions that were asked in the polygraph were "phrased to take victims out of the age group for which these two victims find themselves, ages eight and nine. The question in the polygraph focused on a different age group." *Id.* But, House was asked during his January 6, 2015 polygraph whether, not including the current case, he sexually touched anyone under sixteen or had sex with anyone under sixteen, while

he was an adult. He answered no to both questions. CP 87. No deception was detected. Ages eight and nine are included in the class of persons under sixteen. Substantial evidence does not support a finding that the questions in the polygraph focused on a different age group. On the contrary, the polygraph focused on the very age group the trial court erroneously concluded was not the focus. Therefore, it is clearly erroneous and should not have been used to form any part of the trial court's decision to deny House a SSOSA.

B. Counsel was ineffective when he failed to either ensure the psychosexual evaluation contained the statutory minimums or to request a continuance to submit a supplemental report, or at the very least re-direct Comte at the sentencing hearing.

The right to counsel attaches at every critical state of a criminal prosecution, including sentencing. *Gardner v. Florida*, 430 U.S. 349, 358, 97 S.Ct. 1197, 1204-05, 51 L.Ed.2d 393 (1977). The right to counsel is the right to effective assistance by counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668,686, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77, 917 P.2d 563 (1996).

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must establish that (1) his counsel's performance was deficient and (2) the deficient performance was prejudicial. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687; *Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d at 77-78. Counsel's performance is

deficient if it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. *State v. Maurice*, 79 Wn. App. 544, 551, 903 P.2d 514 (Ct. App. Div. 3 1995). Counsel's performance is not deficient if his or her conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics. *State v. Adams*, 91 Wn.2d 86, 90, 586 P2d 1168 (1978).

In a case such as this, where the offender is eligible for a SSOSA, the psychosexual evaluation is critical. As in House's case, it can be the difference between treatment in the community with a family support system and eleven years in prison. At the very least, House's counsel should have recognized that the report did not contain House's version of events in his own words, which is a minimal statutory requirement. RCW 9.94A.670 (3). House's attorney also should have recognized the deficiencies pointed out by the state and requested that Comte provide a new report or a supplemental report with more detailed information. For example, Quigley should have requested more detailed follow up questions about House's explanation that he assaulted L.M. out of "curiosity".

Counsel's performance was deficient and cannot be characterized as a legitimate trial strategy or tactic. When a defendant requests a SSOSA, the evaluation should have as much information as possible so the court can consider each legislative factor in depth. Here, House was

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