**NO. 47892-7**

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

MARLON HOUSE, APPELLANT

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable Vicki Hogan

Nos. 14-1-00938-2 and 14-1-00937-4

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
CHELSEY MILLER  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 42892

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW ATTORNEY AS THE RECORD REFLECTS IT CONDUCTED AN ADEQUATE INQUIRY AND FELT THAT IT UNDERSTOOD THE ISSUES SUCH THAT A FORMAL HEARING WAS UNNECESSARY.

A defendant in a criminal prosecution has a right to the assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend VI; WASH. CONST. art. 1, § 22 (amend. 10). Indigent defendants charged with felonies, or misdemeanors involving potential incarceration, are entitled to appointed counsel. *McInturf v. Horton*, 85 Wn.2d 704, 705-07, 538 P.2d 499 (1975); CrR 3.1(d)(1). However, “[a] defendant does not have an absolute, Sixth Amendment right to choose any particular advocate.” *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 733, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)(citing *State v. DeWeese*, 117 Wn.2d 369, 375-76, 816 P.2d 1 (1991)). Whether an indigent defendant’s dissatisfaction with his court-appointed counsel is meritorious and justifies the appointment of a new attorney is a matter within the discretion of the trial court. *Id.*

To justify appointment of new counsel, a defendant “must show good cause to warrant substitution of counsel, such as a conflict of

interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the defendant.” *Id.* at 734.

Factors to be considered in a decision to grant or deny a motion for new counsel are (1) the reasons given for the dissatisfaction, (2) the court’s own evaluation of counsel, and (3) the effect of any substitution upon the scheduled proceedings. *Id.* (citing ***State v. Stark***, 48 Wn. App. 245, 253, 738 P.2d 684 (1987)).

A defendant’s conclusory, unsubstantiated statement that his current counsel is unqualified does not entitle defendant to a new counsel. ***State v. Staten***, 60 Wn. App. 163, 169, 802, P.2d 1384 (1991), *review denied*, 117 Wn.2d 1101, 816 P.2d 1224 (1991) (citing ***Wilks v. Israel***, 627 F.2d 32, 36 n. 4 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir.1980), *cert. denied*, 449 U.S. 1086, 101 S.Ct. 874, 66 L.Ed.2d 811 (1981)). Unsupported general allegations of deficient representation are inadequate to support a motion for new counsel, particularly when the motion is brought shortly before or during trial. *Id.* at 170 (citing ***Wilks***, 627 F.2d at 36). A defendant’s loss of confidence or trust in his attorney is generally an insufficient basis for substitution of counsel. ***State v. Varga***, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004).

In August of 2014 in the present case, a status conference was held where the defendant made a motion for a new attorney. 1RP 4. Defendant told the court his counsel had done nothing on his case, had talked to him only four times and had failed to give his court papers to his mother as he

had asked. 1RP 5-6. Defense counsel outlined his progress on the case before the court denied defendant's request stating:

I'm denying your request to have a new public defender. When you have the privilege of hiring your own counsel, then you can hire and fire. When the county pays for it, on the record before me [the defense attorney] is moving forward on your case. There is (sic) no set times that he is required to visit you in preparation for your case.

He has interviewed all of the witnesses that you have asked him, except for the alleged victim, and you need to understand that there is a significant import when the alleged victims are interviewed by the defense, any resolution short of trial is impossible after that time.

1RP 6-7. On appeal, defendant contends that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to conduct an adequate inquiry into defendant's concerns with his attorney before denying his motion for a new attorney. Brief of Appellant 18-21.

In determining whether to substitute counsel, a trial court conducts an adequate inquiry by allowing the defendant and counsel to express their concerns fully. *State v. Schaller*, 143 Wn. App. 258, 271, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007). Formal inquiry is not essential where the defendant otherwise states his reasons for his dissatisfaction with his counsel on the record. *Schaller*, 143 Wn. App. at 271 (*United States v. Willie*, 941 F.2d 1384, 1391 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991); *United States v. Padilla*, 819 F.2d 952, 956 n.1 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987)). The record in the present case makes clear that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defendant's motion and did in fact make an adequate inquiry into the issues.

Defendant was allowed to express his concerns about his counsel on the record and even thanked the court for allowing him to speak. 1RP 5-6. He described how he felt his attorney was merely saying he had done things on defendant's case, but had only spoken to him four times. 1RP 5-6. He also said the attorney had failed to give defendant's court papers to his mother and he had filed a grievance with the Bar Association<sup>4</sup>. 1RP 5-6. After defendant spoke, the court told defendant "I got the tenor of what your issue is" and clarified that defendant was asking for a new attorney. 1RP 6.

The court also heard from defense counsel about his progress on the case and his responses to the defendant's concerns. 1RP 3-6. He said he had spoken to the defendant several times and retained an investigator who had made contact with every witness defendant had asked to be subpoenaed for trial. 1RP 4. The defense attorney indicated that he had not interviewed the two alleged victims yet and explained to the defendant that he wanted to explore a possible resolution and the prosecutor's office has a policy where once the victims are interviewed, it makes resolution of the case difficult, if not impossible. 1RP 4. He also stated that he had had several conversations with defendant's mother who had provided him documents that day and he had apologized for missing her when she

---

<sup>4</sup> Defendant argues that the bar grievance "created an inherent conflict" between defendant and his attorney. Brief of Appellant at 19. But the filing of a bar grievance does not necessitate the appointment of substitute counsel. *State v. Sinclair*, 46 Wn. App. 433, 437, 730 P.2d 742 (1986).

initially tried to speak with him. 1RP 3-6. At the end, he stated “I’m doing what I can for Mr. House, given the resources I have, and given the state of the evidence and I am certainly willing to represent him in these charges.” 1RP 6.

Not only did the trial court allow defendant and his attorney an opportunity to express their concerns and positions, before hearing from them the court made clear it would order a full hearing at a later date if it was necessary. 1RP 5. Before defendant spoke, the court said “I will let you speak briefly, Mr. House, only to get a general feeling for what the issue might be. If I need to have a full hearing, then I will have to reset it, but tell me what it is that you wanted the Court to know.” 1RP 5. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defendant’s motion for a new attorney as the record reveals it conducted an adequate inquiry and felt a formal hearing was unnecessary.

In his argument, defendant likens this case to *United States v. Nguyen*, 262 F.3d 998 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002), where the failure to conduct a full hearing constituted reversible error. Specifically, he argues the trial court should question the attorney or defendant “privately and in depth”, but the record in the present case differs substantially from the *Nguyen* case. Brief of Appellant at 18-19. As summarized by Division One of the Court of Appeals:

In *Nguyen*, a non-English speaking defendant repeatedly asked to substitute privately retained counsel for his public defender with whom he ceased communicating. Nguyen

offered witnesses to support his claim about his public defender's conduct but the court did not pursue any of the allegations. Rather, the court decided the matter at a pretrial meeting for which the defendant was neither present nor aware of and then refused to give Nguyen a full hearing on the issue. On appeal, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals found the trial court's decision was based more on keeping its schedule than on any inquiry into Nguyen's contentions.

*State v. Schaller*, 143 Wn. App. 258, 269, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007), review denied, 164 Wn.2d 1015, 195 P.3d 88 (2008).

In contrast, all parties in the present case were present in court and allowed to express their concerns on the record before the court. 1RP 3-6. Defendant did not present any witnesses or evidence to support his claims, and defense counsel described his progress and efforts on behalf of the defendant. 1RP 3-6. The trial court knew it could hold a full hearing, but felt it adequately understood defendant's concerns and the defense attorney's position such that one was not needed. 1RP 3-6. Given the vast differences between the two cases, defendant's comparison and reliance on *Nguyen* is misplaced.

Defendant also makes arguments in his brief that the trial court misstated the law and made comments that appeared to be biased and unfair to the defendant. Brief of Appellant at 19-21. He contends the trial court's comment that any resolution short of trial was impossible if defendant chose to interview the victims was a misstatement of the law. But the trial court's comment was not based in law and was therefore not a

misstatement of the law. Rather, the court's comment was based upon its experience in handling sexual assault cases involving children and its knowledge of the prosecutor's office's policy that negotiation after such interviews occur is extremely limited. The court was explaining to the defendant that his attorney was taking the appropriate and normal course of action typically taken with cases involving defendant's charges. There was nothing improper about the comment.

Similarly, defendant's allegation that the judge was unfair and biased in the proceeding is without support or merit. An appearance of fairness violation claim requires proof of actual or potential bias. *State. v. Afeworki*, 189 Wn. App. 327, 356, 358, P.3d 1186 (2015). Mere speculation is not enough. *Id.* A judge is presumed to perform his or her duties without prejudice. *Id.* Defendant's only support for his claim in the present case is that the court made the statement "[w]hen you have the privilege of hiring your own counsel, then you can hire and fire. When the county pays for it, on the record before me, [the defense attorney] is moving forward on your case." 1RP 7. This is not proof of potential bias, let alone actual bias. It is the court telling the defendant that the right to counsel does not necessarily include the right to counsel of his choice and based upon the information that the court had heard, the defendant had failed to meet his burden to justify the appointment of new counsel. Defendant's claim that the trial court was unfair or biased is without



support and lacks merit. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defendant's motion for a new attorney.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFENDANT A SSOSA AS DEFENDANT FAILS TO SHOW MR. COMTE'S REPORT WAS DEFICIENT OR THAT THE FINDINGS ABOUT ADDITIONAL VICTIMS BEING UNKNOWN WAS ERRONEOUS.

Under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 (SRA), certain sex offenders are eligible to receive a Special Sexual Offender Sentencing Alternative (SSOSA) provided they meet the qualifications in RCW 9.94A.670. Once they are determined to be eligible for a SSOSA, the court on its own or on motion by the State or the offender may order the defendant to undergo an examination to determine whether they are amenable to treatment. RCW 9.94A.670(3). The report of the examination must include at minimum:

- (i) The offender's version of the facts and the official version of the facts;
- (ii) The offender's offense history;
- (iii) An assessment of problems in addition to alleged deviant behaviors;
- (iv) The offender's social and employment situation; and
- (v) Other evaluation measures used.

RCW 9.94A.670(3)(a). It should detail the examiner's opinion regarding the defendant's amenability to treatment and relative risk to the community and set forth a proposed treatment plan. RCW 9.94A.670(3)(b). The statute also details that "[t]he court on its own motion may order, or on a motion by the state shall order, a second examination regarding the offender's amenability to treatment." RCW 9.94A.670(3)(c). After receiving the reports, the court must consider numerous other factors and determine whether a SSOSA is appropriate. RCW 9.94A.670(4).

The decision whether to sentence a defendant to a SSOSA is entirely within the trial court's discretion and not reviewable on appeal. *State v. Onefrey*, 119 Wn.2d 572, 574-575 n. 1, 835 P.2d 213 (1992); *State v. Mail*, 121 Wn.2d 707, 710, 854 P.2d 1042 (1993). However, a defendant may challenge the trial court's failure to follow the specific procedure required by the SRA on appeal. *Mail*, 121 Wn.2d at 711-12; *State v. Conners*, 90 Wn. App. 48, 51-52, 950 P.2d 519, *review denied*, 136 Wn.2d 1004, 966 P.2d 901 (1998).

- i. The trial court did not err in not ordering a supplemental report when Mr. Comte's report complied with the statutory requirements.

In an effort to obtain a SSOSA, defendant in the present case underwent a psycho sexual evaluation by Michael Comte who then submitted his report to the court. CP 64-75; 2RP 11-12. The trial court

denied defendant's request for a SSOSA after discussing in great length the factors it is required to consider under RCW 9.94A.670(4)<sup>5</sup>. 2RP 79-88.

On appeal, defendant alleges that the trial court denied his SSOSA request because there were gaps in Mr. Comte's report and the trial court should have ordered a "supplemental report" from Mr. Comte. Brief of Appellant at 11-12. Specifically, defendant argues that the report failed to detail the defendant's version of the events. Brief of Appellant at 12. But any deficiency in the details regarding defendant's version of the events was a result of the defendants own refusal to discuss that with Mr. Comte.

In his first meeting with Mr. Comte, the defendant denied the allegations against him and thus, his version of the events was that they did not occur. CP 65. At next meeting, he again denied the allegations, but said he was going to admit to them in order to take advantage of a plea offer. CP 65. Defendant admitted having difficulty acknowledging what

---

<sup>5</sup> RCW 9.94A.670(4) reads in relevant part: "After receipt of the reports, the court shall consider whether the offender and the community will benefit from use of this alternative, consider whether the alternative is too lenient in light of the extent and circumstances of the offense, consider whether the offender has victims in addition to the victim of the offense, consider whether the offender is amenable to treatment, consider the risk the offender would present to the community, to the victim, or to persons of similar age and circumstances as the victim, and consider the victim's opinion whether the offender should receive a treatment disposition under this section. The court shall give great weight to the victim's opinion whether the offender should receive a treatment disposition under this section. If the sentence imposed is contrary to the victim's opinion, the court shall enter written findings stating its reasons for imposing the treatment disposition. The fact that the offender admits to his or her offense does not, by itself, constitute amenability to treatment...."

he had done and only began to admit something had occurred after he was told acknowledgment of his behavior was necessary to obtain a SSOSA. CP 65-66. The report reflects how defendant's version of the events changed as Mr. Comte's interviews with the defendant continued. Any deficiency in discussing the defendant's version of events was the result of the defendant refusing to discuss or even acknowledge what occurred and not something Mr. Comte could force him to discuss.

The trial court had no obligation to order a supplemental report when the original report complied with RCW 9.94A.670(3)(a-b). The report was ten and a half pages long, single spaced. It detailed both parties' versions of events, defendant's background, medical, academic, employment, sexual, psychological and substance abuse history. CP 64-75. It included Mr. Comte's opinion that defendant was amenable to treatment, a low risk to the community and set forth a proposed treatment plan should the SSOSA be granted. CP 73-75. The fact that defendant's version of events was that nothing happened, and then changed after time to making some admissions does not make the report deficient. Mr. Comte's report properly described defendant's "version of events" as were told to him and required in RCW 9.94A.670(3)(a). The trial court did not err in not ordering a supplemental report as it had no obligation to do so.

- ii. The trial court's finding that whether additional victims was unknown was not erroneous as it was supported by evidence in the record.

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